Patient Education and Counseling 99 (2016) 1753-1758



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Patient Education and Counseling

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/pateducou

Review article

Training health professionals in shared decision making: Update of an international environmental scan



Ndeye Thiab Diouf^a, Matthew Menear^{a,b}, Hubert Robitaille^a, Geneviève Painchaud Guérard^a, France Légaré^{a,b,*}

a Canada Research Chair in Shared Decision Making and Knowledge Translation, Research Axis of Population Health and Practice-Changing Research, CHU de Québec – Université Laval Research Centre, Saint-François-d'Assise Hospital, Quebec City, Quebec, G1L 3L5, Canada ^b Department of Family Medicine and Emergency Medicine, Pavillon Ferdinand-Vandry, Quebec City, Quebec, G1V 0A6, Canada

ARTICLE INFO

Article history Received 16 March 2016 Received in revised form 18 May 2016 Accepted 12 June 2016

Keywords: Shared decision making Training Implementation Patient centered care Environmental scan

ABSTRACT

Objective: To update an environmental scan of training programs in SDM for health professionals. Methods: We searched two systematic reviews for SDM training programs targeting health professionals produced from 2011 to 2015, and also in Google and social networks. With a standardized data extraction sheet, one reviewer extracted program characteristics. All completed extraction forms were validated by a second reviewer.

Results: We found 94 new eligible programs in four new countries and two new languages, for a total of 148 programs produced from 1996 to 2015-an increase of 174% in four years. The largest percentage appeared since 2012 (45.27%). Of the 94 newprograms, 42.55% targeted licensed health professionals (n = 40), 8.51% targeted pre-licensure (n = 8), 28.72% targeted both (n = 27), 20.21% did not specify (n = 19), and 5.32% targeted also patients (n = 5). Only 23.40% of the new programs were reported as evaluated, and 21.28% had published evaluations.

Conclusions: Production of SDM training programs is growing fast worldwide. Like the original scan, this update indicates that SDM training programs still vary widely. Most still focus on the single provider/ patient dyad and few are evaluated.

Practice implications: This update highlights the need to adapt training programs to interprofessional practice and to evaluate them.

© 2016 The Authors. Published by Elsevier Ireland Ltd. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

Contents

1.	Introduction	1754
2.	Methods	1754
	2.1. Data sources and searches	1754
	2.2. Program selection and data extraction	1754
	2.3. Data analysis	1755
3.	Results	1755
	3.1. Combined scan	1755
	3.2. Characteristics of new programs found	1755
4.	Discussion and conclusion	1756
	4.1. Discussion	1756
5.	Conclusion	1757
	5.1. Practice implications	1757
	Funding	1758
	Conflict of interest	1758

Corresponding author at: CHU de Québec – Université Laval Research Centre,

Hôpital St-François d'Assise, 10, rue Espinay, Québec, Québec, Canada.

E-mail address: france.legare@mfa.ulaval.ca (F. Légaré).

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/i.pec.2016.06.008

^{0738-3991/© 2016} The Authors. Published by Elsevier Ireland Ltd. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-ncnd/4.0/).

Acknowledgment	758
References	/58

1. Introduction

With increased emphasis on engagement of patients as partners in their care [1], there is a rapidly growing body of knowledge regarding new decision-making models. One such model, shared decision making (SDM), defined as a decisionmaking process jointly shared by patients and their health care providers [2,3], is attracting particular interest.

Some national healthcare systems have explicitly integrated SDM into their policies, and even invested and legislated in its favor [4–6]. Yet there is broad agreement that few healthcare professionals are adopting it [6–9]. Several studies have shown that interventions targeting healthcare professionals can improve their adoption of SDM [10], and a Cochrane review suggests that any kind of intervention is more likely to improve their adoption of SDM than none [11]. Previous work by our team suggest that modifying health professionals' attitudes through SDM training may significantly affect patients' willingness to engage in sharing decisions [12]. But without a global inventory of SDM training programs in the field of health, published and unpublished, formal and informal, these lessons remain incomplete.

Environmental scanning is a method of external analysis used to collect and organize information on the contexts and trends in an organization's external environment that may impact its strategic planning and decision making. The method originated in the world of business but is increasingly used in healthcare organizations and in health research, and is recognized as a valuable tool in health decision making [13]. Between 2009 and 2011, our team conducted the first ever environmental scan to identify training programs around the world that aim to enhance health professionals' knowledge and skills in SDM, and to analyze the programs [14.15]. We concluded that while SDM training was garnering significant attention in many countries, there was no consensus on the best approaches to help healthcare professionals build their SDM knowledge and skills. Another key finding was the dramatic increase in the number of programs created in the last three years of our scan, i.e. from 2008 to 2011 (27 out of 54). It was clear from the continuing interest in implementing SDM among policy makers [16], the mixed evidence about what works [11], as well as a growing demand for the programs themselves, that the rapid production of new programs should be monitored and that an update of the scan would eventually be warranted. We thus began to regularly monitor program development in 2011 and made an inventory of SDM training programs available online as of June 2011. We therefore updated our environmental scan of SDM training programs for health professionals to maintain the online inventory and inform curriculum developers and policy makers about what is new or different in the field of SDM training programs.

2. Methods

Our initial environmental scan has been published and is available online [14,15]. The following is a summary of our methods for this update.

2.1. Data sources and searches

We identified SDM training programs in all fields of healthcare through three main sources: (i) systematic reviews in the field of SDM, (ii) structured GoogleTM searches, and (iii) requests and periodic searches of social media networks (Facebook and Twitter). Briefly, we reviewed the reference lists of the two recently published systematic reviews on SDM and its implementation in clinical practice [11,17]. Our team is also currently updating the Cochrane review of SDM interventions in healthcare [11], which allowed us to identify training programs included in studies published since 2012. From November 2011 to November 2015, trained research assistants performed a weekly search in GoogleTM using the following keywords: ("shared decision making" OR "patient engagement" OR "patient involvement") AND (embedding OR training OR education). These searches were monitored regularly for quality by one of the authors (HR). Finally, we posted on the Shared@EACH Decision Making Group on Facebook, asking members to (i) tell us about any training activities or SDM programs targeting health professionals, (ii) provide us with the names of organizations and individuals likely to know about such activities or programs, and (iii) inform us as to whether their organization offered an SDM training program or activity (and if so, to provide us with the material used for the activity or the name of the person in charge). We also searched Twitter for new programs. These search strategies were used in a sequential order and duplicates were then not considered. We did not limit our searches by language; only training programs containing at least a title or abstract in English have been retrieved.

2.2. Program selection and data extraction

All training activities whose objectives related to improving knowledge of SDM among health professionals were eligible for inclusion, and henceforth are referred to as 'programs'. To be eligible, the program had to meet the following criteria: (a) contain a SDM component, i.e. have as an objective to involve patients in clinical decision-making, (b) consist of a training activity conducted live for a group, as an online course, or as a traditional course (i.e. a course integrated in an academic program), and (c) use a recognized instructional method (e.g. lectures, workshops, case studies, demonstrations, role play, small group discussions). We purposely established very broad inclusion criteria to identify as many SDM training activities as possible from around the world and to capture the full breadth of methods used. Trained reviewers screened data sources for eligible programs using a standardized form detailing eligibility criteria. PubMed and GoogleTM were also searched to retrieve published or unpublished evaluations of the identified programs. Any type of evaluation was considered (e.g. satisfaction with the training, knowledge test, self-reported competence, etc.). Programs cited by their developers as evaluated but not published were also included. One reviewer screened and assessed each program retrieved for its eligibility, and two different reviewers (NTD, HR) confirmed eligibility. In case of disagreement a senior team member (FL) reviewed the program. Reviewers then extracted the following characteristics from eligible programs: program name, author information, date of creation or publication, country of origin, language used, level of care (primary or specialty), clinical domain, health profession(s) targeted, interprofessional focus or not, educational format and duration of training sessions. For each program identified by the new scan, we searched for material used in the program and any descriptions or reports published about them in databases or elsewhere.



Fig. 1. Flow scheme of the environmental scan.

2.3. Data analysis

We recorded the main program characteristics in an Excel file and used descriptive analyses to summarize them.

3. Results

3.1. Combined scan

The flow scheme of the environmental scan is presented in Fig. 1. Between November 2011 and November 2015, we identified 119 new potentially eligible programs with our search strategy. Of these, 94 were considered eligible and were thus added to the 54 programs identified by our initial scan, representing a 174% increase over four years. The two research periods together produced a total of 148 programs developed in 18 countries and in 12 different languages. A small majority (54.05%) targeted more than one kind of healthcare professional and nearly three-quarters (71.62%) were generic, i.e. for use in any clinical context. While 43 of the programs have been evaluated, only 37 program evaluations have been published in articles available in a database (e.g. PubMed). Main characteristics of the programs are summarized in Table 1, while full program details are provided in Supplementary file 1.

3.2. Characteristics of new programs found

Among the 94 new programs identified in our update, 67 had been created since 2011. As was the case with the initial scan, most programs were developed in North America or in Europe, though important growth in program development was observed in Australia. The new scan also identified programs in four additional countries (Japan, South Korea, Chile and Israel) and in two more languages (Korean and Japanese). The vast majority (74.47%) of the new programs were designed to be applicable in a broad range of clinical areas (i.e. generic programs) or in the context of chronic diseases (17.02%), especially cancer (8.51%). Nearly half targeted licensed health professionals, while one quarter were designed for both licensed professionals and those in training. Of the 94 new programs, 68.08% were multiprofessional in nature, i.e. they targeted more than one type of professional or any professional, a much higher percentage than in the first scan (29.70%). Like the first scan, only a minority of the new training programs (n=7, n=7)7.45%) had an explicitly interprofessional focus, i.e. targeted the participation of the whole healthcare team in a decision, taking into account the differing roles of each team member in the same decision. Five new programs (5.32%), however, targeted not only health professionals but also patients. Regarding program evaluations, fewer were found in the second scan (21.28%) than in the first (31.50%), and fewer of these were published in the second (23.40%)

Table 1

Characteristics of SDM training programs.

Year cited	Characteristics	Initial scan (N=54) n (%)	Update (N=94) n (%)	Total (N = 148) n (%)
1986.2001 4 (7.41) 2 (2.13) 6 (4.05) 2002-2007 14 (25.93) 2 (2.128) 47 (31.76) 2002-2015 - 67 (71.28) 67 (45.27) Not specified 9 (16.67) 1 (106) 10 (6.76) Location - 67 (71.28) 67 (45.27) Autopic 2 (55.32) 9 (33.11) 2 (37.04) 2 (37.04) Autopic 2 (37.04) 2 (37.04) 2 (37.04) 2 (37.04) Asia - 1 (106) 1 (0.68) 1 (0.68) Context - 1 (106) 1 (0.68) 4 (31.08) Multiple contexts 2 (3.70) 4 (40.69) 4 (429.73) South America 2 (3.70) 12 (12.77) 46 (31.08) Multiple contexts 2 (3.70) 13 (0.15) 20 (13.11) Specially care 7 (12.36) 2 (21.31) 9 (0.63) Other - 1 2 (12.77) 16 (71.62) Concret 3 (3.66) 3 (3.01) 13 (3.01) Other 1 (2.64)	Year created			
2002-2007 14 (2.53) 4 (4.26) 18 (12.16) 2008-2011 27 (50.00) 67 (71.28) 67 (73.76) 2012-2015 - 67 (71.28) 67 (45.27) Nort specified 9 (16.57) 1 (10.61) 10 (6.76) Location - 2 (10.53) 48 (33.11) Attrantal 3 (5.56) 10 (10.64) 13 (6.76) Attrantal 3 (5.56) 10 (10.64) 13 (6.76) South America - 2 (213) 2 (13.57) South America - 1 (10.68) 4 (227.3) South America 2 (3.70) 42 (44.68) 44 (227.3) South America 2 (3.70) 42 (44.68) 44 (227.3) South America 2 (3.70) 42 (44.68) 44 (227.3) Specially care 2 (3.70) 12 (12.77) 12 (81.1) Context of care - 1 (12.277) 12 (81.1) Context of care 2 (3.70) 1 (10.61) 3 (2.63) NA 9 (16.57) 2 (4.47) 3 (5.66)	1996-2001	4 (7.41)	2 (2.13)	6 (4.05)
2008-2011 27 (250) 47 (37.76) Not specified 9 (16.67) 1 (1.06) 10 (6.76) Not specified 9 (16.67) 1 (1.06) 10 (6.76) Not specified 9 (16.67) 1 (1.06) 10 (6.76) Noth America 20 (3.04) 23 (3.05) 49 (3.11) Australia 3 (5.56) 10 (10.64) 13 (8.78) Australia - 2 (2.13) 2 (1.35) South America 2 (3.70) 12 (12.77) 10 (0.68) Context of care - 1 (10.06) 10 (0.68) Context of care 2 (3.70) 12 (12.77) 46 (3.108) Specialty care 2 (3.70) 14 (19.15) 20 (13.51) Specialty care 2 (3.70) 14 (19.15) 20 (13.51) Specialty care 2 (3.70) 14 (19.15) 20 (13.51) Specialty care 2 (3.70) 14 (18.15) 20 (13.51) Other 7 (12.96) 2 (4.51) 17 (14.9) Other 9 (16.67) 10 (4.747) 10 (6 (71.62)	2002-2007	14 (25.93)	4 (4.26)	18 (12.16)
2012.2015 - (7128) (7128) (714827) Not specified 9 (16.67) 1 (1.06) 10 (6.76) Location - 1 (57.41) 52 (55.32) 83 (56.08) Burope 20 (37.04) 29 (30.85) 49 (33.11) Astai - 2 (2.13) 2 (1.35) South America - 1 (1.06) 1 (0.68) Context of are - - 4 (62.96) 4 (61.08) Multiple contexts 2 (3.70) 42 (44.68) 44 (20.73) South America 2 (3.70) 42 (44.68) 44 (20.73) Bord primary and specialty care 7 (12.96) 2 (2.13) 9 (16.67) N/A 9 (16.67) 8 (85.1) 17 (14.80) Other - 12 (12.77) 12 (17.1) 12 (2.11) Context 2 (3.70) 4 (62.96) 13 (8.78) 10 (7.62) Other - 12 (12.77) 12 (8.11) 17 (14.80) Other 3 (16.67) 8 (85.1) 13 (8.78) Other	2008-2011	27 (50.00)	20 (21 28)	47 (3176)
Abs. 2011 0 (16.67) 0 (16.67) 0 (16.67) Nort specified 9 (16.67) 1 (166) 10 (6.76) North America 31 (57.41) 52 (55.32) 83 (56.08) Europe 20 (37.04) 29 (30.85) 49 (31.11) Australia 3 (55.65) 10 (10.64) 13 (87.8) Australia - 2 (2.13) 2 (1.55) South America - 1 (10.66) 1 (0.68) Context of care - - 1 (10.61) 1 (0.68) Multiple contexts 2 (3.70) 42 (44.463) 44 (29.73) Specially care 7 (12.86) 2 (2.13) 9 (16.67) N/A 9 (16.67) 70 (74.47) 106 (71.62) N/A 9 (16.67) 70 (74.47) 106 (71.62) Concer 5 (32.66) 8 (85.1) 11 (7.4) Pri-atal streeming 3 (55.65) - 3 (2.30) Other chronic diseases 3 (55.65) - 3 (2.30) Pre-atal streeming 2 (30.20) 70 (74.47) 106 (71.	2000 2011	27 (30.00)	67 (71.20)	67 (45 27)
No. Specified S (1007) T (1007) T (1007) T (1007) Locatin 1 (5741) 52 (55.2) 82 (56.08) 49 (33.11) Australia 1 (55.6) 10 (10.64) 13 (8.78) Australia Asia - 1 (1006) 1 (0.68) 1 (0.68) Context of care - 1 (1007) 46 (31.08) 44 (29.73) South America 2 (3.70) 42 (44.68) 44 (29.73) Specially care 2 (3.70) 48 (19.15) 20 (13.51) Both primary and specialty care 7 (12.96) 2 (2.13) 9 (66.87) NA 9 (16.67) 8 (8.51) 11 (7.41) Other - 1 2 (12.77) 12 (17.7) 12 (17.7) Other - 1 2 (12.77) 10 (17.62) 13 (17.62) Context of care 2 (3.70) 8 (8.51) 11 (1.42) 10 (17.62) Context of care 3 (5 (66.67) 70 (74.47) 10 (6 (71.62) 10 (17.62) Context 3 (5 (5.6) - 1 (1.63) 1 (2.43) <	2012-2013	-	1 (100)	10 (6 76)
Location Unternation Statistical Statiste Statistatistatistical Statistical Statistical Statistical Stati	Not specified	9 (16.67)	1 (1.06)	10 (6.76)
North America 31 (5741) 52 (55.2) 83 (56.08) Europe 20 (37.04) 29 (30.85) 49 (33.11) Australia 3 (55.6) 10 (10.64) 13 (8.78) Asia - 2 (13.15) 2 (1.35) South America - 1 (106) 1 (0.68) Cantext of Care - - - - Primary care 34 (62.95) 12 (12.77) 46 (31.08) Multiple contexts 2 (3.70) 18 (19.15) 20 (13.51) Specially care 2 (3.70) 18 (19.15) 20 (13.51) Both primary and specialty care 7 (12.96) 2 (3.17) 12 (12.77) 12 (8.11) Other - 12 (12.77) 12 (8.11) 13 (8.78) Other 9 (16.67) 70 (74.47) 10 (6 (71.62) Garcer 5 (5.6) 8 (8.51) 13 (8.78) Other chronic diseases 3 (5.56) - 3 (2.03) Pre-state Screening 2 (3.70) 10 (10.6) 3 (2.03) Other chronic diseases 3	Location			
Europe Australia 20 (37.04) 29 (38.5) 49 (33.11) Australia 3 (5.50) 10 (10.64) 13 (8.78) Asia - 2 (2.13) 2 (1.55) South America - 1 (1.06) 1 (0.68) Context of care - 2 (1.77) 46 (31.08) Multiple contexts 2 (3.70) 42 (44.68) 44 (29.73) Specialty care 2 (3.70) 18 (151.5) 20 (13.51) Both primary and specialty care 7 (12.96) 2 (2.13) 9 (60.80) N/A 9 (16.67) 18 (851) 17 (1.49) Other - 12 (2.77) 10 6 (71.62) Cancer 5 (9.56) 7 (72.47) 10 6 (71.62) Cancer 5 (9.56) - 3 (2.03) Pre-natal screening 2 (3.70) 1 (1.06) 3 (2.03) Pre-natal screening 2 (3.70) 1 (1.06) 3 (2.03) Other chronic diseases 3 (5.56) - 3 (2.03) Pre-natal screening 2 (3.70) 1 (1.06) 3 (2.03) </td <td>North America</td> <td>31 (57.41)</td> <td>52 (55.32)</td> <td>83 (56.08)</td>	North America	31 (57.41)	52 (55.32)	83 (56.08)
Ausraha 3 (556) 10 (064) 13 (8.78) Asia - 2(2.13) 2(1.35) South America - 1 (1.06) 1 (0.68) Context of care - 1 (1.06) 1 (0.68) Primary care 34 (62.96) 12 (12.77) 46 (31.08) Multiple contexts 2 (3.70) 18 (19.15) 20 (13.31) Both primary and specialty care 7 (12.96) 2 (2.13) 9 (6.68) NA 9 (16.67) 10 (7.427) 12 (12.77) 12 (8.11) Clinical area - - 12 (12.77) 12 (8.11) Clinical area - - 12 (12.77) 12 (8.11) Clinical area - - 12 (12.77) 12 (8.11) Concer 5 (9 (2.6) 8 (8.51) 13 (8.78) 13 (8.78) Other - - 32 (2.03) 32 (2.03) Rehabilitation 1 (1.85) 2 (2.13) 3 (2.03) Other 3 (5.56) 13 (49) 5 (5.57) Multiple profesional	Europe	20 (37.04)	29 (30.85)	49 (33.11)
Asia - 2 (2.13) 2 (1.35) South America - 1 (106) 1 (0.68) Cortext of care - 1 (106) 1 (0.68) Context of care - 2 (2.13) 4 (108) Multiple contexts 2 (3.70) 4 (44.68) 44 (42.93) Both primary and specialty care 2 (3.70) 18 (191.5) 20 (13.51) Both primary and specialty care 7 (12.96) 2 (2.13) 9 (56.08) N/A 9 (16.67) 16 (191.5) 20 (13.51) 9 (56.08) N/A 9 (16.67) 70 (74.47) 106 (71.62) 2 (2.13) Cancer 5 (9.26) 8 (8.51) 13 (8.78) 0 (14.74) Other Chronic diseases 3 (5.56) - 7 7 (74.47) 106 (71.62) Cancer 5 (9.26) 8 (8.51) 13 (8.78) 0 (14.74) 7 Prie natal Screening 2 (3.70) 1 (1.06) 3 (2.03) 1 (2.03) Relabilitation 1 (125) 2 (2.447) 5 (37.16) 3 (3.09) M	Australia	3 (5 56)	10 (10 64)	13 (8 78)
Numerica - 1 (106) 1 (008) Context of care - 1 (106) 1 (008) Context of care - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -	Asia	-	2 (2 13)	2(135)
Context of care Primary care 34 (62.96) 12 (12.77) 46 (31.08) Multiple contexts 2 (3.70) 42 (44.68) 44 (29.73) Specialty care 2 (3.70) 18 (1915) 20 (13.51) Both primary and specialty care 7 (12.96) 2 (2.13) 9 (6.08) N/A 9 (16.67) 8 (8.51) 17 (11.49) Other - 12 (2.77) 12 (8.11) Clinical area - - 12 (2.77) 12 (8.17) Clinical area - - 12 (2.77) 12 (8.17) Clinical area - - - 12 (8.17) Clinical area - - - - Cancer 5 (9.26) 8 (8.51) 13 (8.78) Other chronic diseases 3 (5.56) - - 3 (2.03) Pre-natal screening 2 (3.70) 1 (0.05) 3 (2.03) Pre-natal screening 2 (3.70) 1 (0.05) 3 (2.03) Pre-natal screening 2 (5.26) - - 3 (2.03) <td>South America</td> <td>_</td> <td>1 (1.06)</td> <td>1 (0.68)</td>	South America	_	1 (1.06)	1 (0.68)
Context of care 34 (62.96) 12 (12.77) 46 (31.08) Multiple contexts 2 (3.70) 42 (44.68) 44 (29.73) Specialty care 2 (3.70) 18 (19.15) 20 (13.51) Both primary and specialty care 7 (12.96) 2 (2.13) 9 (6.08) NA Other - 12 (12.77) 12 (8.11) Clinical area - 12 (12.77) 12 (8.11) Ceneric 66 (66.67) 70 (74.47) 106 (71.62) Cancer 5 (9.26) 8 (8.51) 11 (7.4) Patiantizereening 2 (5.56) 8 (8.51) 3 (2.03) Other chronic diseases 3 (5.56) - 3 (2.03) Pre-natal streeming 2 (3.70) 1 (106) 3 (2.03) Other 4 (7.41) 5 (5.32) 9 (6.08) Other 3 (5.56) 2 (2.13) 3 (2.03) Other 3 (5.56) 3 (3.19) 6 (4.05) Other 3 (5.56) 3 (3.19) 6 (4.05) Narses 3 (5.56) 3 (3.19) 3 (2.03) </td <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>				
Printally Carle 34 (02:00) 12 (1277) 46 (31.00) Multiple contexts 2 (3.70) 18 (1915) 20 (13.51) Specialty care 2 (3.70) 18 (1915) 20 (13.51) Both primary and specialty care 7 (12.96) 2 (2.13) 9 (6.68) NA 9 (16.67) 8 (8.51) 17 (11.49) Other - 12 (12.77) 12 (8.17) Clinical area - - - Generic 36 (66.67) 70 (74.47) 106 (71.62) Cancer 5 (9.26) 8 (8.51) 11 (7.4) Palliative care 3 (5.56) - - Other chronic diseases 3 (5.56) - 3 (2.03) Pre-natal screening 2 (3.70) 1 (106) 3 (2.03) Rehabilitation 1 (1.85) 2 (2.13) 3 (2.03) Other 4 (7.41) 5 (5.32) 9 (6.08) Health professionals targeted - 3 (3.19) 6 (4.05) Nurges Sional 7 (12.96) 4 8 (51.06) 5 (37.16) Multiple professionals 9 (16.67) 16 (17.02) 25 (15.89) <td>Context of care</td> <td>24 (62.06)</td> <td>10 (10 77)</td> <td>40 (21.09)</td>	Context of care	24 (62.06)	10 (10 77)	40 (21.09)
Multiple contexts 2 (3,0) 44 (42,5) 44 (25,7) Both primary and speciality care 2 (3,70) 18 (1915) 20 (13.51) Both primary and speciality care 7 (12.26) 2 (2.13) 9 (6.08) NA 9 (16.67) 8 (8.51) 17 (11.49) Other - 12 (12.77) 12 (8.11) Clanical area - - 12 (12.77) 106 (71.62) Cancer 5 (9.26) 8 (8.51) 11 (7.4) Chrinci diseases 3 (5.56) 8 (8.51) 11 (7.4) Paliative care 3 (5.56) 8 (8.51) 3 (2.03) Other chronic diseases 3 (5.56) 2 (2.13) 3 (2.03) Pre-natal screening 2 (3.70) 1 (106) 3 (2.03) Other 4 (7.41) 5 (5.22) 9 (6.08) May professionals targeted - - - Physicians/residents 32 (59.26) 23 (24.47) 55 (37.16) Any professional targeted - - - - Physicians/residents 3 (Primary care	34 (62.96)	12 (12.77)	46 (31.08)
Specialty care 2 (3.70) 18 (19.15) 20 (13.51) Both primary and specialty care 7 (12.96) 2 (2.13) 9 (6.08) NA 9 (16.67) 8 (8.51) 17 (11.49) Other - 12 (12.77) 12 (3.11) Clinical area - - 12 (12.77) 106 (71.62) Cancer 5 (6.67) 70 (74.47) 106 (71.62) Cancer Cancer 36 (66.67) 70 (74.47) 106 (71.62) Cancer Cancer 36 (56.67) 70 (74.47) 106 (71.62) Cancer 3 (2.01) Pre-natal screening 2 (3.70) 1 (1.06) 3 (2.03) Pre-natal screening 3 (2.02) Rehabilitation 1 (1.85) 2 (2.13) 3 (2.03) Other Pre-screening 32 (59.26) 23 (24.47) 55 (37.16) Multiple professionals targeted - - - Physicians/residents 3 (5.56) 1 (1.06) 4 (2.70) Nurses 3 (5.11) 40 (42.55) 73 (49.32) Other	Multiple contexts	2 (3.70)	42 (44.68)	44 (29.73)
Both primary and specialty care 7 (12,96) 2 (2,13) 9 (6,08) N/A 9 (16,67) 8 (8,51) 17 (11,49) Other - 12 (12,77) 12 (8,11) Clinical area - - 12 (12,77) 12 (8,11) Clinical area - - 12 (12,77) 13 (8,78) Generic 5 (9,26) 8 (8,51) 13 (8,78) Other chronic diseases 3 (5,56) - - 3 (2,03) Pre-natal screening 2 (3,70) 1 (1,06) 3 (2,03) Other 4 (7,41) 5 (5,32) 9 (6,08) Physicians/residents 3 (2,502,6) 23 (2,447) 55 (37,16) Multiple professional targeted - - 3 (3,19) 6 (4,05) Multiple professionals 9 (16,67) 16 (17,02) 25 (16,89) 23 (5,06) 3 (3,19) 6 (4,05) Other 3 (5,56) 1 (1,06) 4 (2,70) 3 (2,03) - - Pre-icensure 3 (61,11) 40 (42,55) 73 (49,32) 3 (2,03) </td <td>Specialty care</td> <td>2 (3.70)</td> <td>18 (19.15)</td> <td>20 (13.51)</td>	Specialty care	2 (3.70)	18 (19.15)	20 (13.51)
N/A 9 (16.67) 8 (8.51) 17 (11.49) Other - 12 (12.77) 12 (8.11) Clinical area - 12 (12.77) 106 (71.62) Generic 36 (66.67) 70 (74.47) 106 (71.62) Cancer 5 (92.6) 8 (8.51) 11 (7.4) Palliative care 3 (5.56) - 3 (2.03) Pre-nati screening 2 (3.70) 1 (1.06) 3 (2.03) Pre-nati screening 2 (3.70) 1 (1.06) 3 (2.03) Other 4 (7.41) 5 (5.32) 9 (6.08) Physicians/residents 32 (59.26) 23 (24.47) 55 (37.16) Any professionals targeted - - 3 (3.19) 6 (4.05) Physicians/residents 3 (5.56) 1 (10.6) 4 (2.70) 3 (2.03) Nutrispe professionals 9 (16.67) 16 (17.02) 25 (16.89) 3 (3.19) 6 (4.05) Nutrispe professionals 9 (15.60) 1 (0.6) 4 (2.70) 3 (3.19) 3 (2.03) Pre-icensure - -	Both primary and specialty care	7 (12.96)	2 (2.13)	9 (6.08)
Other - 12 (12.77) 12 (8.11) Clinical area	N/A	9 (16.67)	8 (8.51)	17 (11.49)
Clinical area - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - <	Other	-	12 (12.77)	12 (8.11)
Generic 36 (66.67) 70 (74.47) 106 (71.62) Cancer 5 (9.26) 8 (8.51) 13 (8.78) Other chronic diseases 3 (5.56) 8 (8.51) 11 (7.4) Palliative care 3 (5.56) - 3 (2.03) Pre-natal screening 2 (3.70) 1 (1.06) 3 (2.03) Pre-natal screening 2 (3.70) 1 (1.06) 3 (2.03) Other 4 (7.41) 5 (5.52) 9 (6.08) Health professionals targeted - - - Physician/sciendents 3 (2.56) 23 (24.47) 55 (37.16) Any professional 7 (12.96) 48 (51.06) 55 (37.16) Multiple professionals 9 (16.67) 16 (17.02) 25 (16.89) Nutrses 3 (5.56) 3 (3.19) 6 (4.05) Other 3 (5.56) 3 (3.19) 6 (4.05) Other 3 (5.56) 3 (3.19) 6 (2.05) Not specified - 3 (6.11) 40 (42.25) 73 (49.32) Both pre- and post-licensure 11 (20.37) <	Clinical area			
Cancer 5 (9.26) 8 (8.51) 13 (8.78) Other chronic diseases 3 (5.56) 8 (8.51) 11 (7.4) Palliative care 3 (5.56) - 3 (2.03) Pre-natal screening 2 (3.70) 1 (1.06) 3 (2.03) Rehabilitation 1 (1.85) 2 (2.13) 3 (2.03) Other 4 (7.41) 5 (5.32) 9 (6.08) Health professionals targeted - - - Physicians/residents 32 (59.26) 23 (24.47) 55 (37.16) Any professional 7 (12.96) 48 (51.06) 55 (37.16) Multiple professionals 9 (16.67) 16 (17.02) 25 (16.89) Nurses 3 (5.56) 3 (3.19) 6 (40.5) Other 3 (3.56) 1 (1.06) 4 (2.70) Not specified - 3 (3.19) 3 (2.03) Pre or post licensure - 3 (3.19) 3 (2.03) Prect-licensure 33 (61.11) 40 (42.55) 73 (49.32) Both pre- and post-licensure 11 (20.37) 27 (28.72)	Generic	36 (66 67)	70 (74 47)	106 (71 62)
Chirch Chronic diseases 3 (5.56) 8 (8.51) 11 (74) Palliative care 3 (5.56) - 3 (2.03) Pre-nata screening 2 (3.70) 1 (1.06) 3 (2.03) Rehabilitation 1 (1.85) 2 (2.13) 3 (2.03) Other 4 (741) 5 (532) 9 (608) Health professionals targeted - - - Physicians/residents 3 2 (59.26) 23 (24.47) 55 (37.16) Any professional 7 (12.96) 48 (51.06) 55 (37.16) Multiple professionals 9 (16.67) 16 (17.02) 25 (16.89) Nurses 3 (5.56) 3 (3.19) 6 (4.05) Other 3 (5.56) 1 (1.06) 4 (2.70) Not specified - 3 (3.19) 3 (2.58) Pre- incensure 10 (18.52) 8 (8.51) 18 (12.16) Not specified - 19 (20.21) 19 (12.84) Interprofessional focus - 19 (20.21) 19 (12.84) No 51 (94.44) 87 (92.55) 138 (93.24	Cancer	5 (9 26)	8 (8 51)	13 (8 78)
Other Chronic diseases 5 (3.50) 6 (3.51) 1 (1/4) Palliative care 3 (5.56) - 3 (2.03) Pre-natal screening 2 (3.70) 1 (1.06) 3 (2.03) Rehabilitation 1 (1.85) 2 (2.13) 3 (2.03) Other 4 (7.41) 5 (5.32) 9 (6.08) Health professionals targeted - - 5 (3.716) Physicians/residents 32 (55.6) 23 (24.47) 55 (37.16) Any professional 7 (12.96) 48 (51.06) 55 (37.16) Multiple professionals 9 (16.67) 16 (17.02) 25 (16.89) Nurses 3 (5.56) 3 (3.19) 6 (4.05) Other 3 (5.56) 3 (3.19) 3 (2.03) Pre or post licensure - 3 (3.19) 3 (2.03) Pre- and post-licensure 10 (18.52) 8 (8.51) 18 (12.66) Pre-licensure 10 (18.52) 8 (8.51) 18 (12.66) Not specified - 19 (20.21) 19 (12.84) Interprofessional focus - 10	Other chronic discasses	2 (5.20)	0 (0.51)	13(0.78)
Pre-nati screening 2 (3.70) 1 (1.06) 3 (2.03) Rehabilitation 1 (1.85) 2 (2.13) 3 (2.03) Other 4 (7.41) 5 (5.32) 9 (6.08) Health professionals targeted	Dell'etien enne	3 (5.50) 2 (5.50)	8 (8.51)	11 (7.4)
Pre-hala screening $2 (3.70)$ $1 (1.06)$ $3 (2.03)$ Rehabilization $1 (1.85)$ $2 (2.13)$ $3 (2.03)$ Other $4 (7.41)$ $5 (5.32)$ $9 (6.08)$ Health professionals targeted $ -$ Physicians/residents $3 2 (99.26)$ $23 (24.47)$ $55 (37.16)$ Any professional $7 (12.96)$ $48 (51.06)$ $55 (37.16)$ Multiple professionals $9 (16.67)$ $16 (17.02)$ $25 (16.89)$ Nurses $3 (5.56)$ $3 (3.19)$ $6 (4.05)$ Other $3 (5.56)$ $1 (1.06)$ $4 (2.70)$ Not specified- $3 (3.19)$ $3 (2.03)$ Pre or post licensure $ 3 (3.19)$ $3 (2.03)$ Pre or post licensure11 (20.37) $27 (28.72)$ $38 (25.68)$ Pre-licensure $10 (18.52)$ $8 (8.51)$ $18 (12.16)$ Not specified- $19 (20.21)$ $19 (12.84)$ Interprofessional focus $ 19 (20.21)$ $10 (6.76)$ No $51 (94.44)$ $87 (92.55)$ $138 (93.24)$ Yes $3 (5.56)$ $7 (7.45)$ $10 (6.76)$ Patients also targeted $ 5 (5.32)$ $5 (3.38)$ Program evaluation $ 5 (5.32)$ $5 (3.38)$ Program evaluation $21 (38.89)$ $22 (23.40)$ $43 (29.05)$ Evaluated $21 (38.89)$ $22 (23.40)$ $43 (29.05)$	Palliative care	3 (5.56)	-	3 (2.03)
Rehabilitation 1 (1.85) 2 (2.13) 3 (2.03) Other 4 (741) 5 (5.32) 9 (6.08) Health professionals targeted - - Physicians/residents 32 (59.26) 23 (24.47) 55 (37.16) Any professional 7 (12.96) 48 (51.06) 55 (37.16) Multiple professionals 9 (16.67) 16 (17.02) 25 (16.89) Nurses 3 (5.56) 3 (3.19) 6 (4.05) Other 3 (5.56) 1 (1.06) 4 (2.70) Not specified - 3 (3.19) 3 (2.03) Pre or post licensure - - 3 (3.19) 3 (2.03) Pre-licensure 33 (61.11) 40 (42.55) 73 (49.32) Both pre- and post-licensure 11 (20.37) 27 (28.72) 38 (25.68) Pre-licensure 10 (18.52) 8 (8.51) 18 (12.16) Not specified 10 (18.52) 8 (8.51) 18 (12.16) Not specified - 19 (20.21) 19 (12.84) Pre-professional focus - - 19 (20.25) 138 (93.24) Yes 3 (5.56)	Pre-natal screening	2 (3.70)	1 (1.06)	3 (2.03)
Other 4 (7.41) 5 (5.32) 9 (6.08) Health professionals targeted Physicians/residents 32 (59.26) 23 (24.47) 55 (37.16) Any professional 7 (12.96) 48 (51.06) 55 (37.16) Multiple professionals 9 (16.67) 16 (17.02) 25 (16.89) Nurses 3 (5.56) 3 (3.19) 6 (4.05) Other 3 (5.56) 1 (1.06) 4 (2.70) Not specified - 3 (3.19) 3 (2.03) Pre or post licensure - 3 (3.19) 3 (2.03) Pre or post licensure 11 (20.37) 27 (28.72) 38 (25.68) Pre- and post-licensure 10 (18.52) 8 (8.51) 18 (12.16) Not specified - 19 (20.21) 19 (12.84) Interprofessional focus - 19 (20.21) 19 (12.84) No 51 (94.44) 87 (92.55) 138 (93.24) Yes 3 (5.56) 7 (7.45) 10 (6.76) Professional focus - - 19 (20.21) 143 (96.62) Yes	Rehabilitation	1 (1.85)	2 (2.13)	3 (2.03)
Health professionals targeted 55 (37.16) Physicians/residents 32 (59.26) 23 (24.47) 55 (37.16) Any professional 7 (12.96) 48 (51.06) 55 (37.16) Multiple professionals 9 (16.67) 16 (17.02) 25 (16.89) Murses 3 (5.56) 3 (3.19) 6 (4.05) Other 3 (5.56) 1 (10.06) 4 (2.70) Not specified - 3 (3.19) 6 (4.05) Pre or post licensure 73 (49.32) 73 (49.32) Both pre- and post-licensure 11 (20.37) 27 (28.72) 38 (25.68) Prelicensure 10 (18.52) 8 (8.51) 18 (12.16) Not specified - 19 (20.21) 19 (12.84) Interprofessional focus - 19 (20.21) 138 (93.24) Yes 3 (5.56) 7 (7.45) 10 (6.76) Preter professional focus - - - No 5 (5.60) 7 (7.45) 10 (6.76) Preter professional focus - - - No	Other	4 (7.41)	5 (5.32)	9 (6.08)
Physicians/residents 32 (59.26) 23 (24.47) 55 (37.16) Any professional 7 (12.96) 48 (51.06) 55 (37.16) Multiple professionals 9 (16.67) 16 (17.02) 25 (16.89) Nurses 3 (5.56) 3 (3.19) 6 (4.05) Other 3 (5.56) 1 (1.06) 4 (2.70) Not specified - 3 (3.19) 3 (2.03) Pre or post licensure - 3 (3.19) 3 (2.03) Pre or post licensure - - 3 (2.03) Pre- and post-licensure - - - Post-licensure 11 (20.37) 27 (28.72) 38 (25.68) Pre-licensure 10 (18.52) 8 (8.51) 18 (12.16) Not specified - 19 (20.21) 19 (12.84) Interprofessional focus - - 19 (20.21) 10 (6.76) Patients also targeted - - 5 (3.38) 143 (96.62) Yes 54 (100.00) 89 (94.68) 143 (96.62) 5 (3.38) Yes 54 (Health professionals targeted			
Any professional 7 (12.96) 48 (51.06) 55 (37.16) Multiple professionals 9 (16.67) 16 (17.02) 25 (16.89) Nurses 3 (5.56) 3 (3.19) 6 (4.05) Other 3 (5.56) 3 (3.19) 6 (4.05) Not specified - 3 (3.19) 3 (2.03) Pre or post licensure - 3 (3.19) 3 (2.03) Pretor post licensure 11 (20.37) 27 (28.72) 38 (25.68) Pre-licensure 10 (18.52) 8 (8.51) 18 (12.16) Not specified - 19 (20.21) 19 (12.84) Interprofessional focus - - 19 (20.21) 10 (6.76) Ves 3 (5.56) 7 (4.44) 87 (92.55) 138 (93.24) Yes 3 (5.56) 7 (7.45) 10 (6.76) Patients also targeted - - 5 (5.32) 5 (3.38) No 54 (100.00) 89 (94.68) 143 (96.62) 5 (3.38) Program evaluation - - 5 (5.32) 5 (3.36) Program evaluation - 22 (23.40) 43 (29.05) 5 (25.00	Physicians/residents	32 (59.26)	23 (24.47)	55 (37.16)
Multiple professionals 9 (16.67) 16 (17.02) 25 (16.89) Nurses 3 (5.56) 3 (3.19) 6 (4.05) Other 3 (5.56) 1 (1.06) 4 (2.70) Not specified - 3 (3.19) 3 (2.03) Pre or post licensure - 3 (3.19) 3 (2.03) Pre or post licensure - - 3 (3.19) 3 (2.03) Pre or post licensure - - 3 (3.19) 3 (2.03) Pre or post licensure - - 3 (3.19) 3 (2.03) Pre-licensure 33 (61.11) 40 (42.55) 73 (49.32) Both pre- and post-licensure 11 (20.37) 27 (28.72) 38 (25.68) Pre-licensure 10 (18.52) 8 (8.51) 18 (12.16) Not specified - 19 (20.21) 19 (12.84) Interprofessional focus - - - No 51 (94.44) 87 (92.55) 138 (93.24) Yes 3 (5.56) 7 (7.45) 10 (6.76) Precirents also targeted - - 5 (5.32) 5 (3.38) No 54 (1	Any professional	7 (12.96)	48 (51.06)	55 (3716)
Nurse 3 (5.56) 3 (3.19) 6 (4.05) Nurses 3 (5.56) 1 (1.06) 4 (2.70) Not specified - 3 (3.19) 3 (2.03) Pre or post licensure - 3 (3.19) 3 (2.03) Pre or post licensure 33 (61.11) 40 (42.55) 73 (49.32) Both pre- and post-licensure 11 (20.37) 27 (28.72) 38 (25.68) Pre-licensure 10 (18.52) 8 (8.51) 18 (12.16) Not specified - 19 (20.21) 19 (12.84) Interprofessional focus - 19 (20.21) 19 (12.84) Interprofessional focus - - - No 51 (94.44) 87 (92.55) 138 (93.24) Yes 3 (5.56) 7 (7.45) 10 (6.76) Patients also targeted - - 5 (5.32) 5 (3.38) Program evaluation - 5 (3.28) 5 (3.20) 5 (3.20) Program evaluation - - 5 (23.40) 43 (29.05) Evaluated 21 (38.89) 22 (23.40) 43 (29.05) 37 (25.00)	Multiple professionals	9 (16 67)	16 (17.02)	25 (16.89)
Nature 3 (5.50) 1 (1.06) 4 (2.70) Not specified - 3 (3.19) 3 (2.03) Pre or post licensure - - - Post-licensure 3 (61.11) 40 (42.55) 73 (49.32) Both pre- and post-licensure 11 (20.37) 27 (28.72) 38 (25.68) Pre-licensure 10 (18.52) 8 (8.51) 18 (12.16) Not specified - 19 (20.21) 19 (12.84) Interprofessional focus - - 10 (18.52) 138 (93.24) Yes 5 (5.56) 7 (7.45) 10 (6.76) - Patients also targeted - - 5 (5.32) 5 (3.38) Program evaluation - 5 (5.32) 5 (3.38) - Program evaluation - - 5 (5.32) 5 (3.38) Program evaluation - - 5 (23.40) 43 (29.05) Evaluated 21 (38.89) 22 (23.40) 43 (29.05) 37 (25.00)	Nurses	3 (5 56)	3 (3 10)	6(4.05)
Not specified - 3 (3.19) 4 (2.70) Pre or post licensure - 3 (3.19) 3 (2.03) Pre or post licensure 33 (61.11) 40 (42.55) 73 (49.32) Both pre- and post-licensure 11 (20.37) 27 (28.72) 38 (25.68) Pre-licensure 10 (18.52) 8 (8.51) 18 (12.16) Not specified - 19 (20.21) 19 (12.84) Interprofessional focus - 19 (20.21) 19 (12.84) No 51 (94.44) 87 (92.55) 138 (93.24) Yes 3 (5.56) 7 (7.45) 10 (6.76) Patients also targeted - - 5 (5.32) 5 (3.38) Program evaluation - 5 (5.32) 5 (3.38) 43 (29.05) Evaluated 21 (38.89) 22 (23.40) 43 (29.05) 37 (25.00)	Other	2 (5.56)	1 (106)	4 (2 70)
Not specified - 5 (5.19) 5 (2.03) Pre or post licensure 33 (61.11) 40 (42.55) 73 (49.32) Both pre- and post-licensure 11 (20.37) 27 (28.72) 38 (25.68) Pre-licensure 10 (18.52) 8 (8.51) 18 (12.16) Not specified - 19 (20.21) 19 (12.84) Interprofessional focus - 19 (20.21) 19 (12.84) No 51 (94.44) 87 (92.55) 138 (93.24) Yes 3 (5.56) 7 (7.45) 10 (6.76) Patients also targeted - - 5 (5.32) 5 (3.38) Program evaluation - - 5 (2.00) 43 (29.05) Evaluated 21 (38.89) 22 (23.40) 43 (29.05) Evaluation published 17 (31.48) 20 (21.28) 37 (25.00)	Not experified	5 (5.50)	1(1.00)	4(2.70)
Pre or post licensure J3 (61.11) 40 (42.55) 73 (49.32) Both pre- and post-licensure 11 (20.37) 27 (28.72) 38 (25.68) Pre-licensure 10 (18.52) 8 (8.51) 18 (12.16) Not specified - 19 (20.21) 19 (12.84) Interprofessional focus - - 19 (20.21) 19 (12.84) No 51 (94.44) 87 (92.55) 138 (93.24) - No 51 (94.44) 87 (92.55) 10 (6.76) - Patients also targeted - - - - No 54 (100.00) 89 (94.68) 143 (96.62) - Yes - 5 (5.32) 5 (3.38) - Program evaluation - - - - Evaluated 21 (38.89) 22 (23.40) 43 (29.05) - Evaluation published 17 (31.48) 20 (21.28) 37 (25.00) -	Not specified	-	5 (5.19)	5 (2.05)
Post-licensure 33 (61.11) 40 (42.55) 73 (49.32) Both pre- and post-licensure 11 (20.37) 27 (28.72) 38 (25.68) Pre-licensure 10 (18.52) 8 (8.51) 18 (12.16) Not specified - 19 (20.21) 19 (12.84) Interprofessional focus - - 19 (20.21) 19 (12.84) No 51 (94.44) 87 (92.55) 138 (93.24) 10 (6.76) Yes 3 (5.56) 7 (7.45) 10 (6.76) 10 (6.76) Patients also targeted - - 5 (5.32) 5 (3.38) Program evaluation - 5 (5.32) 5 (3.38) Program evaluation - 22 (23.40) 43 (29.05) Evaluated 21 (38.89) 22 (23.40) 43 (29.05) Evaluation published 17 (31.48) 20 (21.28) 37 (25.00)	Pre or post licensure			
Both pre- and post-licensure 11 (20.37) 27 (28.72) 38 (25.68) Pre-licensure 10 (18.52) 8 (8.51) 18 (12.16) Not specified - 19 (20.21) 19 (12.84) Interprofessional focus - 87 (92.55) 138 (93.24) No 51 (94.44) 87 (92.55) 138 (93.24) Yes 3 (5.56) 7 (7.45) 10 (6.76) Patients also targeted - - - No 54 (100.00) 89 (94.68) 143 (96.62) Yes - 5 (3.38) - Program evaluation - 5 (5.32) 5 (3.38) Program evaluation 22 (23.40) 43 (29.05) Evaluated 21 (38.89) 22 (23.40) 43 (29.05) Evaluation published 17 (31.48) 20 (21.28) 37 (25.00)	Post-licensure	33 (61.11)	40 (42.55)	73 (49.32)
Pre-licensure 10 (18.52) 8 (8.51) 18 (12.16) Not specified - 19 (20.21) 19 (12.84) Interprofessional focus 51 (94.44) 87 (92.55) 138 (93.24) Yes 3 (5.56) 7 (7.45) 10 (6.76) Patients also targeted - 54 (100.00) 89 (94.68) 143 (96.62) Yes - 5 (100.00) 89 (94.68) 143 (96.62) Yes - 5 (5.32) 5 (3.38) Program evaluation - - 5 (22.40) 43 (29.05) Evaluated 21 (38.89) 22 (23.40) 43 (29.05) 37 (25.00)	Both pre- and post-licensure	11 (20.37)	27 (28.72)	38 (25.68)
Not specified - 19 (20.21) 19 (12.84) Interprofessional focus 51 (94.44) 87 (92.55) 138 (93.24) No 51 (94.44) 87 (92.55) 10 (6.76) Patients also targeted 7 (7.45) 10 (6.76) Patients also targeted 54 (100.00) 89 (94.68) 143 (96.62) Yes 54 (100.00) 89 (94.68) 5 (3.38) Program evaluation - 5 (5.32) 5 (3.38) Program evaluation 22 (23.40) 43 (29.05) Evaluated 21 (38.89) 22 (23.40) 43 (29.05) Evaluation published 17 (31.48) 20 (21.28) 37 (25.00)	Pre-licensure	10 (18.52)	8 (8.51)	18 (12.16)
Interprofessional focus 51 (94.44) 87 (92.55) 138 (93.24) No 3 (5.56) 7 (7.45) 10 (6.76) Patients also targeted - - - No 54 (100.00) 89 (94.68) 143 (96.62) Yes - 5 (5.32) 5 (3.38) Program evaluation - - - Evaluated 21 (38.89) 22 (23.40) 43 (29.05) Evaluation published 17 (31.48) 20 (21.28) 37 (25.00)	Not specified	-	19 (20.21)	19 (12.84)
No 51 (94.44) 87 (92.55) 138 (93.24) Yes 3 (5.56) 7 (7.45) 10 (6.76) Patients also targeted 54 (100.00) 89 (94.68) 143 (96.62) Yes - 5 (5.32) 5 (3.38) Program evaluation Evaluated 21 (38.89) 22 (23.40) 43 (29.05) Evaluation published 17 (31.48) 20 (21.28) 37 (25.00)	Interprofessional focus			
No 54 (100.00) 89 (94.68) 143 (96.62) Yes - 5 (5.32) 5 (3.38) Program evaluation Evaluated 21 (38.89) 22 (23.40) 43 (29.05) Evaluated 17 (31.48) 20 (21.28) 37 (25.00)	No	51(94.44)	87 (02 55)	138 (03 74)
Yes 5 (5.56) 7 (7.45) 10 (6.76) Patients also targeted	NO	31(34.44)	37(32.33)	10 (6 76)
Patients also targeted 54 (100.00) 89 (94.68) 143 (96.62) Yes - 5 (5.32) 5 (3.38) Program evaluation Evaluated 21 (38.89) 22 (23.40) 43 (29.05) Evaluated 17 (31.48) 20 (21.28) 37 (25.00)	fes	3 (3.30)	7 (7.45)	10 (6.76)
No 54 (100.00) 89 (94.68) 143 (96.62) Yes - 5 (5.32) 5 (3.38) Program evaluation - - - Evaluated 21 (38.89) 22 (23.40) 43 (29.05) Evaluation published 17 (31.48) 20 (21.28) 37 (25.00)	Patients also targeted			
Yes - 5 (5.32) 5 (3.38) Program evaluation Evaluated 21 (38.89) 22 (23.40) 43 (29.05) Evaluation published 17 (31.48) 20 (21.28) 37 (25.00)	No	54 (100.00)	89 (94.68)	143 (96.62)
Program evaluation 22 (23.40) 43 (29.05) Evaluated 21 (38.89) 20 (21.28) 37 (25.00)	Yes	=	5 (5.32)	5 (3.38)
Program evaluation 22 (23.40) 43 (29.05) Evaluated 21 (38.89) 20 (21.28) 37 (25.00)				
Evaluated21 (38.89)22 (23.40)43 (29.05)Evaluation published17 (31.48)20 (21.28)37 (25.00)	Program evaluation	21 (20.00)	22 (22 40)	42 (20.05)
Evaluation published 17 (31.48) 20 (21.28) 37 (25.00)	Evaluated	21 (38.89)	22 (23.40)	43 (29.05)
	Evaluation published	17 (31.48)	20 (21.28)	37 (25.00)

* Totals of each category may not equal 100% because of rounding.

than in the first scan (31.50%). Published evaluation data was found for only 25.00% of all the programs; however, 35.00% of the total programs were produced as of 2014 and thus may be the focus of ongoing or unpublished evaluations.

4. Discussion and conclusion

4.1. Discussion

In this updated international environmental scan of SDM training programs, we identified 94 new programs, for a total of 148 programs developed since 1996 (the selection detail is shown in Fig. 1). The largest number of these programs (67) appeared after

2012, representing a proportion of 45.27% of all identified programs. Our findings lead us to make four main observations.

First, as in the initial environmental scan, most SDM training programs continue to be developed in North America and Europe, led primarily by the United States, Canada, and United Kingdom. Australia has become an important producer of SDM training activities since 2012. However, even in countries where SDM is officially endorsed by the government, such as the United Kingdom and the United States [18–20], there is evidence that SDM is still not widely practiced in routine care [8]. A survey in Japan showed that patients there do want to be more involved in healthcare decision-making [21] and new programs have been created in Japan and South Korea. Other Asian countries are challenged by

scarce healthcare resources and an overburdened healthcare system [22]. Furthermore, we were still unable to identify any SDM training programs in Africa, India, Russia, South America or China, perhaps an indicator that the approach has not taken hold in these contexts. Training health professionals in SDM with existing western models may not be appropriate in all non-western countries given that healthcare decisions of individuals are strongly affected by different family and community traditions, as well as by diverse concepts of harmony and filial piety linked to different religious or moral codes [23,24]. It might be important to investigate different possible cultural interpretations of SDM in these parts of the world and adapt health care training in this social context.

Second, in the last few years there appears to have been a shift from programs that target specific clinical areas and professional groups, mostly physicians, to programs that are multiprofessional, or open to a broad range of professionals in diverse contexts. While this shift may reflect desires to promote the broad adoption of SDM, making SDM training accessible to a larger number of people and making the process more efficient, the programs still seem largely based on a dyadic model of care where the decision is shared between one healthcare professional and one patient. However, with the demographic changes in many industrialized countries leading to an increase in chronic disease management, decisions in many clinical contexts are now made with the collaboration of many healthcare professionals. In other words, a whole interprofessional team is involved in a single healthcare decision instead of a patient-professional dyad [25]. Training needs to include and be adapted to this new reality. We have identified a total of only 10 programs out of 148 that adopted an interprofessional approach, although there was a slight increase in such programs since 2011 (7 more). However, as two-thirds of programs are generic in terms of clinical context, these programs may more easily accommodate the notion of interprofessional collaboration than the context-specific ones. Finally, there are still very few programs that target pre-licensure healthcare professionals only, and so very few programs are mandatory. Moving SDM implementation into clinical practice beyond the traditional dyad could start with training pre-licensure healthcare professionals in interprofessional SDM, especially as many aspects of collaborative care are already integrated into the academic curricula.

Third, a new trend since our first publication is the participation of patients in programs' sessions, which occurred in five of the training programs produced since 2014. Patient involvement in the management of their health has been shown to improve patient outcomes [26], and is becoming a common strategy by which policy makers strive to improve healthcare in an evidence-based manner. The Canadian Institutes of Health Research's Strategy for Patient-Oriented Research (SPOR) [27], for example, supports patient involvement in designing interventions. In the same vein, patient participation in training sessions can help both them and health professionals to better understand why it is important for them to participate in the decision process about their health. Patients first appeared as educators for healthcare professionals in the 1960s [28] and, in the 1970s, Barrows and Abrahamson proposed the concept of "programmed patients" teaching clinical skills to doctors [29], leading to the development of patient instructor programs [30-32]. Experience has demonstrated the great potential of patient educators to promote patient-centered practice, interprofessional collaboration, community involvement, and SDM [28]. Since the goal of SDM is ultimately to benefit the patient, it is logical for developers of SDM training programs to consider including patients in program development and delivery.

Lastly, it is still difficult to assess the effectiveness of these programs for improving knowledge and practice among healthcare professionals owing to the lack of evaluations. In our new scan, fewer than one quarter of the programs we retrieved had published evaluations. While the hypothesis of this review was that training healthcare professionals may be an important intervention to improve implementation of SDM [11,16], our results cannot confirm this hypothesis. In addition, in keeping with the conclusions of a systematic review on interventions intended to improve SDM [11], we can say little more about which *types* of intervention are more effective than others. In addition to the lack of published evaluations, another difficulty in assessing training programs is the dramatic differences in their duration; the 148 selected programs varied in duration from 30 minutes to 30 hours. In reviewing future evaluations, the impact of program duration will be worth further investigation.

The present findings are limited by several factors. First, it remains possible that we missed some SDM training programs. We searched the reference lists of two Cochrane systematic reviews [11,17] and identified newer programs through an ongoing update of the review on SDM interventions [11]. However, this latter search ended in December 2014 and we may have missed more recent programs. Our searches in Google[™] and in social media helped to mitigate the risk of missing programs not captured through the systematic reviews. Still, GoogleTM search algorithms can produce different results when searches are conducted at different times or places (outputs influenced by users, locations, browsing history, etc.). Our social media strategy also focused solely on Facebook and Twitter and it is possible that additional programs would have been retrieved had we expanded our searches to online communities such as ResearchGate or LinkedIn. We suggest that future environmental scans explore the value of searching websites of this type. Also, our searches in GoogleTM and social media were conducted in English only and thus training programs providing no information in English may have been missed. Second, the search strategy for the environmental scan update changed because our main goals were to identify SDM training programs from around the world and importantly maintain our online inventory of training programs up-to-date over time [33]. Unlike for the first scan, in this update authors were not contacted in order to collect data that would allow an in-depth analysis of their programs. This limitation is the main reason why some findings in the first scan were not compared with those in the second scan. For example, additional data on teaching methods was not assessed as we did not contact the authors for this information. The large number of programs that have not been evaluated is another limit to our understanding of the effectiveness of these training programs and the factors influencing the implementation of SDM in different contexts.

5. Conclusion

This scan was valuable in helping us identify several trends in training activity development and in providing us with the information needed to update our freely accessible online inventory of SDM training programs [33]. Our results show that interest in SDM training is spreading to new parts of the world and that there is a new interest in opening programs to patient participation. However, although programs are increasingly generic, interprofessional collaboration still seems neglected. As few programs are rigorously evaluated, if at all, it is still difficult to know which kinds of training are most effective.

5.1. Practice implications

Due to demographic changes in many industrialized countries and the related increase in chronic diseases, healthcare is increasingly provided by interprofessional teams, so that several healthcare professionals may be involved in a single healthcare decision instead of just one. SDM training programs, which mostly focus on the healthcare provider/patient dyad, need to adapt to this new reality. In addition, as few training programs target prelicensure healthcare professionals, it would be interesting to integrate SDM training into the mandatory academic curricula of health professionals to ensure a better dissemination of interprofessional SDM. This update also points to a continuing lack of evaluated SDM training programs, making assessment of their effectiveness difficult. Developers and providers of SDM training thus need to a) target interprofessional teams and b) assess their programs.

Funding

FL holds a Canada Research Chair in Shared Decision Making and Knowledge Translation. MM holds a CIHR fellowship.

Conflict of interest

The Canada Research Chair in Shared Decision Making and Knowledge Translation mission is to provide health professionals and their patients with the necessary skills to promote shared decision-making throughout the healthcare continuum. Therefore, it has produced a number of shared decision making training programs that are included in this scan.

Acknowledgment

We thank Louisa Blair for editing this manuscript.

Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data associated with this article can be found, in the online version, at http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2016.06.008.

References

- S. Vahdat, L. Hamzehgardeshi, S. Hessam, Z. Hamzehgardeshi, Patient Involvement in health care decision making: a review, Iran. Red Cres. Med. J. 16 (1) (2014).
- [2] A. Towle, W. Godolphin, Framework for teaching and learning informed shared decision making, Biomed. J. (1999) 139.
- [3] G. Makoul, M. Clayman, An integrative model of shared decision making in medical encounters, Patient Educ. Couns. 60 (3) (2006) 301–312.
- [4] F. Légaré, D. Stacey, P.-G. Forest, M.-F. Coutu, Moving SDM forward in Canada: milestones, public involvement, and barriers that remain, Zeitschrift fur Evidenz, Fortbildung und Qualitat Gesundheitswesen 105 (2011) 245–253.
- [5] G. Elwyn, S. Laitner, A. Coulter, E. Walker, P. Watson, R. Thomson, Implementing shared decision making in the NHS, BMJ 6 (341) (2010) 971.
- [6] F. Legare, H. Bekker, S. Desroches, R. Drolet, M.C. Politi, D. Stacey, F. Borduas, F. M. Cheater, J. Cornuz, M.F. Coutu, N. Ferdjaoui-Moumjid, F. Griffiths, M. Harter, A. Jacques, T. Krones, M. Labrecque, C. Neely, C. Rodriguez, J. Sargeant, J.S. Schuerman, M.D. Sullivan, How can continuing professional development better promote shared decision-making? Perspectives from an international collaboration, Implement. Sci. 6 (1) (2011) 68.
- [7] G. Elwyn, A. Rix, T. Holt, D. Jones, Why do clinicians not refer patients to online decision support tools? Interviews with front line clinics in the NHS, BMJ Open 2 (6) (2012).
- [8] N. Couet, S. Desroches, H. Robitaille, H. Vaillancourt, A. Leblanc, S. Turcotte, G. Elwyn, F. Legare, Assessments of the extent to which health-care providers involve patients in decision making: a systematic review of studies using the OPTION instrument, Health Expect. 18 (4) (2013) 542–561.
- [9] G. Elwyn, I. Scholl, C. Tietbohl, M. Mann, A.G. Edwards, C. Clay, F. Légaré, T.v.d. Weijden, C.L. Lewis, R.M. Wexler, D.L. Frosch, "Many miles to go...": a systematic review of the implementation of patient decision support interventions into routine clinical practice, BMC Med. Inform. Decision Making 29 (13) (2013).

- [10] F. Légaré, M. Labrecque, M. Cauchon, J. Castel, S. Turcotte, J. Grimshaw, Training family physicians in shared decision-making to reduce the overuse of antibiotics in acute respiratory infections: a cluster randomized trial, CMAJ 184 (13) (2012).
- [11] F. Legare, D. Stacey, S. Turcotte, M.J. Cossi, J. Kryworuchko, I.D. Graham, A. Lyddiatt, M.C. Politi, R. Thomson, G. Elwyn, N. Donner-Banzhoff, Interventions for improving the adoption of shared decision making by healthcare professionals, Cochrane Database Syst. Rev. 9 (2014) CD006732.
- [12] F. Legare, S. St-Jacques, S. Gagnon, M. Njoya, M. Brisson, P. Fremont, F. Rousseau, Prenatal screening for Down syndrome: a survey of willingness in women and family physicians to engage in shared decision-making, Prenat. Diagn. 31 (4) (2011) 319–326.
- [13] P. Graham, T. Évitts, R. Thomas-MacLean, Environmental scans: how useful are they for primary care research? Can. Fam. Phys. Medecin de famille canadien. 54 (7) (2008) 1022–1023.
- [14] F. Legare, M.C. Politi, R. Drolet, S. Desroches, D. Stacey, H. Bekker, S.-C. Team, Training health professionals in shared decision-making: an international environmental scan, Patient Educ, Couns. 88 (2) (2012) 159–169.
- [15] F. Legare, H. Bekker, S. Desroches, M. Politi, D. Stacey, F. Borduas, F.M. Cheater, J. Cornuz, M.F. Coutu, N. Donner-Banzhoff, N. Ferdjaoui-Moumjid, F. Griffiths, M. Harter, C. Jackson, A. Jacques, T. Krones, M. Labrecque, R. Rodriguez, M. Rousseau, M. Sullivan, Effective continuing professional development for translating shared decision making in primary care: a study protocol, Implement. Sci. 5 (2010) 83.
- [16] M. Harter, T. van der Weijden, G. Elwyn, Policy and practice developments in the implementation of shared decision making: an international perspective, Zeitschrift fur Evidenz Fortbildung und Qualitat Gesundheitswesen 105 (4) (2011) 229–233.
- [17] D. Stacey, F. Légaré, N.F. Col, C.L. Bennett, M.J. Barry, K.B. Eden, M. Holmes-Rovner, H. LlewellynThomas, A. Lyddiatt, R. Thomson, L. Trevena, J.H.C. Wu, Decision aids for people facing health treatment or screening decisions, Cochrane Database Syst. Rev. 1 (2014) CD001431.
- [18] A. Coulter, A. Edwards, G. Elwyn, R. Thomson, Implementing shared decision making in the UK, Zeitschrift fur Evidenz, Fortbildung und Qualitat im Gesundheitswesen 105 (4) (2011) 300–304.
- [19] D.L. Frosch, B.W. Moulton, R.M. Wexler, M. Holmes-Rovner, R.J. Volk, C.A. Levin, Shared decision making in the United States: policy and implementation activity on multiple fronts, Zeitschrift fur Evidenz, Fortbildung und Qualitat im Gesundheitswesen 105 (4) (2011) 305–312.
- [20] M.J. Barry, Shared decision making: informing and involving patients to do the right thing in health care, J. Ambul. Care Manag. 35 (2) (2012) 90–98.
- [21] D.L. Alden, M.Y. Merz, J. Akashi, Young adult preferences for physician decision-making style in Japan and the United States, Asia Pac. J. Publ. Health 24 (1) (2012) 173–184.
- [22] C.J. Ng, P.Y. Lee, Y.K. Lee, B.H. Chew, J.P. Engkasan, Z.I. Irmi, N.S. Hanafi, S.F. Tong, An overview of patient involvement in healthcare decision-making: a situational analysis of the Malaysian context, BMC Health Serv. Res. 13 (2013) 408.
- [23] G.W. Ruhnke, S.R. Wilson, T. Akamatsu, T. Kinoue, Y. Takashima, M.K. Goldstein, B.A. Koenig, J.C. Hornberger, T.A. Raffin, Ethical decision making and patient autonomy: a comparison of physicians and patients in Japan and the United States, Chest 118 (4) (2000) 1172–1182.
- [24] Y.K. Lee, W.Y. Low, C.J. Ng, Exploring patient values in medical decision making: a qualitative study, PLoS One 8 (11) (2013) 1–9.
- [25] F. Légaré, D. Stacey, N. Brière, H. Robitaille, M.-C. Lord, S. Desroches, R. Drolet, An interprofessional approach to shared decision making: an exploratory case study with family caregivers of one IP home care team, BMC Geriatr. 14 (83) (2014).
- [26] M.E. Branda, A. LeBlanc, N.D. Shah, K. Tiedje, K. Ruud, H.V. Houten, L. Pencille, M. Kurland, B. Yawn, V.M. Montori, Shared decision making for patients with type 2 diabetes: a randomized trial in primary care, BMC Health Serv. Res. 13 (301) (2013).
- [27] Strategy for Patient-Oriented Research: http://www.cihr-irsc.gc.ca/e/41204. html; 2016.
- [28] A. Towle, L. Bainbridge, W. Godolphin, A. Katz, C. Kline, B. Lown, I. Madularu, P. Solomon, J. Thistlethwaite, Active patient involvement in the education of health professionals, Med. Educ. 44 (1) (2010) 64–74.
- [29] H.S. Barrows, S. Abrahamson, The programmed patient: a technique for appraising student performance in clinical neurology, J. Med. Educ. 39 (1964) 802–805.
- [30] R.E. Helfer, M.A. Black, H. Teitelbaum, A comparison of pediatric interviewing skills using real and simulated mothers, Pediatrics 55 (3) (1975) 397–400.
- [31] P.L. Stillman, J.S. Ruggill, D.L. Sabers, The use of live models in the teaching of gross anatomy, Med. Educ. 12 (2) (1978) 114–116.
- [32] P.L. Stillman, J.S. Ruggill, P.J. Rutala, D.L. Sabers, Patient instructors as teachers and evaluators, J. Med. Educ. 55 (3) (1980) 186–193.
- [33] Inventory of Shared Decision Making Programs for Healthcare Professionals [Internet]. http://www.decision.chaire.fmed.ulaval.ca/en/list-of-sdmprograms. 2015.